
 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF WEST VIRGINIA 

  
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
v.           Criminal No. 1:19CR56 
 
 
TIMOTHY ROCK, 
 
                      Defendant. 
 

UNITED STATES' OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR  
NEW TRIAL OR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL 

 
The United States of America and William J. Powell, United States Attorney for the 

Northern District of West Virginia, by Andrew R. Cogar, Assistant United States Attorney, who 

opposes the defendant’s motion for a new trial or judgment of acquittal.  The Court should deny 

the motion because the trial evidence and the legal definition of drug “distribution” amply 

support the jury’s conviction on Count One of the indictment. 

I.   BACKGROUND 

 The defendant exclusively challenges his conviction for heroin distribution charged in 

Count One of the indictment.  This count stemmed from a controlled buy for heroin on July 20, 

2016, which was initiated by the defendant in his capacity as a Harrison County Sheriff’s Deputy 

on the Street Crimes and Drug Unit (“SCAD”).  During the buy, SCAD informant Christopher 

Manuel purchased heroin from Charles Whitaker in Clarksburg in exchange for $120.  The 

defendant’s buy report indicated that Manuel purchased “approximately 8 heroin stamps” from 

Whitaker.  (Gov. Exh. 3.)  The subsequent criminal complaint against Whitaker, which was 

sworn out by the defendant, inconsistently stated that “1 bundle of heroin (8 individually packed 

stamps with a star)” was purchased.  (Gov. Exh. 6.)  Based on an audio recording of the buy 
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(Gov. Ex. 4), Deputy Zach Hutson confirmed that he received a bundle of heroin (i.e., 10 stamps) 

from Manuel shortly after the buy.  Whitaker and Manuel nonetheless both testified that 

Whitaker would have given at least 12 stamps to Manuel in exchange for $120.   

Manuel testified that, in his capacity as a SCAD informant, he completed two or three 

controlled buys from Whitaker.  Manuel unequivocally confirmed that, for “every” one of those 

buys, the defendant gave him a portion of the purchased heroin. (Manuel Tr. 18.)  More 

generally, Manuel explained that the defendant paid him with heroin from controlled buys in one 

of two ways: either by directly handing him a some of the purchased heroin stamps, or telling 

him to keep a portion of the purchased heroin before returning it to the defendant. (Manuel Tr. 

13.)    

II.  STANDARD OF LAW 

For a Rule 29 motion for acquittal, a defendant bears “an imposing burden to successfully 

challenge the sufficiency of the evidence.” United States v. Martin, 523 F.3d 281, 288 (4th Cir. 

2008) (citation omitted). “[T]he jury verdict must be upheld if there exists substantial evidence, 

including circumstantial and direct evidence, to support the verdict, viewing the evidence in the 

light most favorable to the government.” United States v. Stewart, 256 F.3d 231, 249 (4th Cir. 

2001) (citations omitted) (emphasis added). “In applying this standard of review, [the Court] 

must remain cognizant of the fact that ‘[t]he jury, not the reviewing court, weighs the credibility 

of the evidence and resolves any conflicts in the evidence presented, and if the evidence supports 

different, reasonable interpretations, the jury decides which interpretation to believe.’” United 

States v. Burgos, 94 F.3d 849, 862 (4th Cir. 1996) (quoting United States v. Murphy, 35 F.3d 

143, 148 (4th Cir. 1994)). 
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Rule 33 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure otherwise permits the Court to vacate 

a criminal conviction and “grant a new trial if the interest of justice so requires.” However, “a 

trial court should exercise its discretion to award a new trial sparingly, and a jury verdict is not to 

be overturned except in the rare circumstance when the evidence weighs heavily against it.” 

United States v. Smith, 451 F.3d 209, 217 (4th Cir. 2006) (quotation omitted). 

III.   ARGUMENT 

 The trial evidence readily establishes that the defendant distributed heroin to Christopher 

Manuel during the Whitaker controlled buy, and thus validates the jury’s guilty verdict on Count 

One.   

 Culpability for illegal drug distribution under 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1) extends far beyond 

simple hand-to-hand transactions. United States v. Brunty, 701 F.2d 1375, 1381 (11th Cir. 1983) 

(“Cases involving distribution under § 841(a) support a broad construction of the offense.”) 

(collecting cases).  Under 21 U.S.C. § 802, “the term ‘distribute’ means to deliver,” id. 

§ 802(11), which is defined as “the actual, constructive, or attempted transfer of a controlled 

substance . . ., whether or not there exists an agency relationship,” id. § 802(8).1    In light of the 

breadth of this statutory definition, courts have held that § 841(a)(1) offenses include “acts which 

other statutes may have defined merely as aiding and abetting.”  United States v. Wigley, 627 

F.2d 224, 226 (10th Cir. 1980) (per curiam); accord United States v. Ambriz, 727 F.3d 378, 383 

(5th Cir. 2013).  Participating in the drug transaction “viewed as a whole” can constitute 

distribution as well. United States v. Pruitt, 487 F.2d 1241, 1245 (8th Cir. 1973); United States v. 

Gore, 154 F.3d 34, 44-45 (2d Cir. 1998) (“Someone who participates in a drug transaction—e.g., 

as a broker or armed guard—can be liable for distribution without ever possessing the drugs.”) 

                                                 
1  A “transfer” encompasses “[a]ny mode of disposing of or parting with an asset or an interest in an 
asset.”  Black’s Law Dictionary 1503 (7th ed. 1999). 
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(quoting United States v. Sepulveda, 102 F.3d 1313, 1316 (1st Cir. 1996)).  Thus, “‘distribution’ 

includes other acts perpetrated in furtherance of a transfer or sale, such as arranging or 

supervising the delivery, or negotiating for or receiving the purchase price.” United States v. 

Colon, 268 F.3d 367, 377 (6th Cir. 2001); cf. Jury Charge (dkt. #43, at 14-15). 

In this case, the Court need not explore the outer limits of “distribution” to determine that 

the defendant unlawfully transferred heroin to Manuel as charged in Count One. Manuel’s 

testimony and corroborating documentary evidence indicate that the defendant actively and 

purposefully gave heroin to Manuel.  Basic principles of agency and contracts reinforce this 

common sense conclusion.  In the context of a controlled buy, the confidential informant acts as 

an agent for the supervising law enforcement officer. The buy money constitutes government 

funds, and once the transaction is completed, the overseeing law enforcement agency has 

constructive possession and exclusive ownership rights to the contraband purchased.  Thus, in 

this case, by deliberately transferring control of some of that contraband (heroin) to Manuel after 

the Whitaker controlled buy, the defendant engaged in drug distribution—regardless of the 

mechanics of the transfer.   

  The defendant contends that, at most, he “merely acquiesced” to Manuel “pinching”   

heroin, which would not constitute drug distribution in violation of  21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1).  The 

defendant similarly claims that the trial evidence only established that he “knew the transfer was 

occurring and did nothing to stop it,” but he “did not facilitate or participate in the transfer of 

heroin.”  This version of events, however, does not comport with the evidence, especially when 

viewed in a light most favorable to the Government.  With respect to the Whitaker controlled 

buy, Manuel testified that the defendant knowingly gave him a portion of the purchased drugs.  

By contrast, the evidence did not indicate that Manuel surreptitiously stole heroin from that or 
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any other controlled buy.  And insofar as Manuel kept a portion of purchased drugs immediately 

after the controlled buy, he did so with the defendant’s express permission and knowledge.   

 Moreover, the defendant’s so-called “acquiescence” is proof of his unlawful drug 

distribution.  One cannot acquiesce out of ignorance.  If the defendant knew Manuel was 

“pinching” drugs, he was voluntarily relinquishing control of the drugs and thereby 

constructively transferring that control to Manuel outside the scope of his law enforcement 

authority.  This interpretation of the facts otherwise constitutes “sharing drugs,” which 

§ 841(a)(1) also prohibits. United States v. Washington, 41 F.3d 917, 919 (4th Cir. 1994).  

Irrespective of how he characterizes his actions, the defendant is guilty of distributing heroin as 

charged in Count One.   

 
Respectfully submitted, 

WILLIAM J. POWELL 
United States Attorney 
 

By:    /s/ Andrew R. Cogar     
    

Andrew R. Cogar 
Assistant United States Attorney 
United States Attorney's Office  
320 W. Pike Street, Suite 300  
Clarksburg, WV 26301-2710  
Phone number - (304) 623-7030  
Facsimile number - (304) 623-7031  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I, Andrew R. Cogar, certify that on January 14, 2020, I electronically filed the foregoing 

UNITED STATES' OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL OR 

JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL with the Clerk using the CM/ECF system, which will send 

notification of such filing to Michael Hissam, Esq., and Ryan Donovan, Esq. counsel for defendant 

Timothy Rock. 

  
  

 

 /s/ Andrew R. Cogar         
Andrew R. Cogar 
Assistant United States Attorney  
United States Attorney's Office  
320 W. Pike Street, Suite 300  
Clarksburg, WV 26301-2710  
Phone number - (304) 623-7030  
Facsimile number - (304) 623-7031  
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